Glycation and Skin Aging



Herve Pageon, Helene Zucchi, Paula C. Pennacchi, and Daniel Asselineau

Contents

Introduction	1248 1248
Mechanism of the Glycation Reaction	1248
Glycation Modulation by Oxidative Stress The RAGE Receptor (Advanced Glycation	1250
End-Products Receptor)	1251
Glycation in Skin	1251
Accumulation of AGEs in Skin	1252
AGES Alter Physical Parameters of Skin	1253
Effects of AGEs on Skin Cell Viability	1254
Effect of AGEs on the Synthesis of the	
Dermal Matrix and Epidermal Cells	1255
Effect of AGEs on the Degradation of the Dermal	
Matrix	1256
Concept of AGE's Biological Specificity in Skin	1257
Glycation and the Monocyte Lineage in Skin	1257
Interaction of AGEs with Cell Membranes	1257
AGEs and Intracellular Activity	1258
Modulation of Glycation by UV Light	1258
RAGE in Skin Aging	1259
Particular Case of Melanocyte/Melanoma	1261
How to Fight Against AGEs?	1261
Prevention	1261
Crosslinks Breakers	1262

H. Pageon (🖂) • H. Zucchi • D. Asselineau

L'Oreal, Research and Innovation, Aulnay-sous-bois, France

e-mail: hpageon@rd.loreal.com; hzucchi@rd.loreal.com; dasselineau@rd.loreal.com

Department of Clinical Chemistry and Toxicology, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil e-mail: paulapennacchi@gmail.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2017 M.A. Farage et al. (eds.), *Textbook of Aging Skin*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-662-47398-6_128

Prevention of the Consequences of Glycation	1262
Intracellular Defense Systems	1262
DJ-1/PARK7	1263
Diet	1263
Conclusion	1264
References	1264

P.C. Pennacchi

Abstract

Our skin, just like our whole body is submitted to aging. Important changes occur: skin gets dryer, thinner, age spots appear. It becomes less elastic and more rigid, fine lines and wrinkles appear, and complexion changes. Skin aging is characterized by all these visible signs, which depend on many factors. One of them has been studied for many years and is known to be one of the mechanisms involved in body aging: the glycation reaction.

One of the causes of skin aging is the appearance of AGEs (advanced glycosylation end roducts). AGEs cause biomecanics properties alterations and biological changes involving activation of synthesis of molecules (macromolecules of the extracellular matrix, cytokines) and the activation of the matrix metalloproteinases or MMPs (matrixdegrading enzymes). The effect of UV on some AGEs (e.g., pentosidine) generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the matrix with induced additional deleterious effects. AGEs can be formed intracellularly also and consequently change the biological homeostasis of the cell. Taken together, these modifications induced by AGEs stress the importance of glycation in skin aging.

Introduction

Our skin, just like our whole body, is submitted to aging. Important changes occur: skin gets dryer, thinner, age spots appear. It becomes less elastic and more rigid, fine lines and wrinkles appear, and complexion changes. Skin aging is characterized by all these visible signs, which depend on many factors. One of them has been studied for many years and is known to be one of the mechanisms involved in body aging: the glycation reaction. Indeed, the glycation reaction leads to products called AGEs (advanced glycosylation end products) known to form crosslinks and to accumulate in tissues. The nonenzymatic glycation of proteins is a common factor in the pathophysiology related to aging disorders and diseases such as diabetes mellitus (DM). In elderly subjects, the nonenzymatic glycation is high, not only because of possible hyperglycemia but also due to longterm exposure to normoglycemic conditions. The glycation of proteins has been described at a cutaneous level [1] and in organs such as the kidney, blood vessels, and lens [2].

The Glycation Reaction

This reaction is also known as the Maillard reaction described in the early 1900s by Louis Camille Maillard. Maillard discovered that amino acids heated in the presence of reducing sugars developed a yellow-brown coloration [3].

The reaction of glycation is a nonenzymatic reaction between sugar and free amine function of amino acids (lysine, arginine) in proteins. This reaction occurs not only in the skin. Indeed, AGEs (advanced glycation end products) are also found in the kidney, lens, vessels, etc. This reaction takes place in proteins with long half-life and/or low renewal.

In 1981, Monnier and Cerami connect the browning reaction in nonenzymatic glycosylation of proteins (for the reaction occurring between glucose and the amino groups of proteins without intervention of enzyme) with glycation in aging of the lens, collagen, and more generally of the extracellular matrix [4].

There are several factors that can modulate the accumulation of AGEs: renewal of proteins, concentration and type of molecule, availability and reactivity of amino acids on protein to initiate the reaction, degradation of AGEs, and their removal by the body [5].

Mechanism of the Glycation Reaction

The aldehydic group of the reducing sugar such as glucose reacts with a free amino group of amino acid (lysine, arginine) proteins. This reaction leads to unstable Schiff base which turns into Amadori product (which will undergo rearrangements and fragmentation) to eventually



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of glycation reaction. *CML* carboxymethyl-lysine, *CEL* carboxyethyl-lysine, *GOLD* glyoxal-lysine dimer, *MOLD* methylglyoxal- lysine dimer, *DOLD* 3-deoxyglucosone-lysine dimer, *G-H*

produce advanced glycosylation end products or AGEs.

There are different metabolic pathways that can lead to the appearance of AGEs. Briefly, there are three steps in the glycation reaction: an early stage which consists in the formation of a Schiff base, an intermediate step in which are found intermediate molecules known as "propagators," and at the end the formation of AGEs (Fig. 1).

Many AGEs have been identified to date. Structures are varied, forming linear chains or cyclic structures on the surface of proteins or even crosslinks between two protein chains (Fig. 2). The same AGE and intermediate product can be produced from various metabolites. The intermediate products such as glyoxal, G-hyydroimidazolone, *MG-H* MG-hydroimidazolone, *GO* glyoxal, *MGO* methylglyoxal, *3-DG* 3-deoxyglucosone (Adapted from Singh [28, 29])

methylglyoxal, and 3-deoxyglucosone (3 DG) are known as the dicarbonyl compounds or oxoaldehydes [6–8]. Methylglyoxal (MGO) can be generated by glycolysis, oxidation of threonine, ketone groups [9] or ascorbic acid [10]. 3-DG is formed by a nonoxidative rearrangement and hydrolysis of the product of Amadori [8] and by the fructose-3-phosphate, which is a metabolite of the polyols pathway [11]. CML appears from the oxidation of the Amadori product (fructoselysine) catalyzed by transition metals or peroxynitrite, ascorbic acid, lipid peroxidation, and different pathways involving the formation of glyoxal and glycoaldehyde [12]. The pentosidine is formed with pentose, ascorbic acid, or by oxidation and fragmentation of the fructose-lysine [13, 14]. The nature of the



Fig. 2 Chemical structure of α -oxoaldehydes and AGEs identified in skin. (a) Carbonyls group or α -oxoaldehydes which lead to AGEs. (b) AGEs without crosslinks. (c) AGEs with crosslinks

metabolite and the oxidative environment is an important parameter to be considered in the development of the glycation end products. The formation of AGEs can be catalyzed by metals of transitions [15].

In addition, it should be noted that compounds such as methylglyoxal or deoxyglucosone derivatives in interaction with lysine can produce the allysine which in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) leads to 2-aminoadipic acid stable by oxidation [16] and the decarbamylation of arginine product form ornithine which accumulates with age [17]. Ornithine is the deguanidinylation product of arginine resulting from the reaction with oxoaldehydes including methylglyoxal, glyoxal, and also the glucosepane. Ornithine can be produced from different AGEs involving arginine [18].

Glycation Modulation by Oxidative Stress

The majority of the steps leading to glycation end products is accompanied by an oxidative stress (except apparently the pathway leading to glucosepane [19]) and often referred to as glycoxidation [20]. The glycation reaction generates oxygen radicals in the initial, intermediate, and advanced steps. The Amadori product and glycated proteins can react with oxygen to form superoxide ion [21] or hydrogen peroxide [22]. Namiki described unstable imine formed in the initial steps of the reaction likely to be oxidized and to lead to the appearance of oxoaldehydes [23] such as glyoxal, methylglyoxal, and 3-deoxyglucosone. Oxidation of glucose (catalyzed by transition metals) can generate hydrogen peroxide and cetoaldehydes [24].

Glycation pathways lead to AGE compounds some of which are common to those derived from lipid peroxidation and especially polyunsaturated fatty acids (named ALEs for advanced lipoxydation products) [25, 26]. CML may serve as a biomarker of general oxidative stress resulting from both carbohydrate and lipid oxidation reactions [27].

The RAGE Receptor (Advanced Glycation End-Products Receptor)

AGEs have the ability to bind to specific membrane proteins [28]. There are several types of receptors for AGEs: AGE receptor 1 or AGE-R1 (protein OST-48, complex oligosaccharyl transferase). AGE-R1 is able to bind AGEs, remove oxidative stress [30] and the induced inflammatory response [31]. Copurified with AGE-R1, AGE-R2 (protein 80 K - H, membrane substrate of protein kinase) has been described as a protein involved in intracellular signaling of multiple receptors [32]. AGE-R2 was found associated with another protein that can bind AGEs: AGE-R3 (Galectin 3). AGE-R3 performs different functions including the internalization and degradation of AGEs [33]. Recently, an inverse correlation between Galectin 3 and AGEs localization in human skin was described, suggesting a protection against accumulation of AGEs in wound healing [34]. AGE-R3 is colocalized with AGE-R1 and AGE-R2 and are overexpressed in contact with AGEs [35]. Macrophage scavenger receptor (MSR) enables macrophagic cells to internalize and degrade the AGEs. The MSR are of two types: MSR-AII (macrophage scavenger receptor class A type II) [36] and MSR-BI (class B scavenger receptor type I), or CD36 [37].

However, the well-known receptor and probably the most studied is RAGE, the receptor for AGEs (Fig. 3). RAGE is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. The extracellular domain of RAGE is composed by one variable part (V) and two constant parts (C). The RAGE is a multiligand receptor: CML, AGE peptides, AOPPs (advanced oxidation protein products), HMGB1, S100A12/ B/A6, amyloid β products [38]. The cytoplasmic domain of RAGE is linked to the extracellular domain by a simple membrane domain. The intracellular domain is short (< amino acids 50) and highly charged. This cytoplasmic domain binds to (mDia-1 diaphanous-1 or mammalian diaphanous-1), a binding which is required for cell activation after binding AGEs-RAGE [38] (Fig. 3a). The extracellular domain of the RAGE can be cleaved via the action of ADAM10 (A Disintegrine And Metallopeptidase 10) and releases the soluble receptor (sRAGE). A second soluble receptor, esRAGE (endogenous secretory RAGE), can be released resulting from alternative splicing of mRNA coding for the RAGE (Fig. 3b). sRAGE and esRAGE are supposed to act as a decoy receptor for AGEs (competitive binding of AGEs) and could facilitate their elimination. sRAGE would decrease the binding between AGEs and the cell surface, therefore preventing the activation of the cell. The binding AGEs-RAGE leads to a loop of activation, in which inflammatory stimuli activate NFkB, which induces the expression of RAGE, followed again by NFkB activation. NFkB stimulates multiple cell signaling pathways that lead to increased production of many growth factors and cytokines, influence cell growing, gene expression, inflammation, and extracellular matrix synthesis [38-40] (Fig. 3c). RAGE activation induces also oxidative stress by activating NADPH-oxidase, decreasing SOD, catalase activity, and also GSH (intracellular antioxidative systems) which by consequence reduces Glo1 activity [41–42]. The stimulation of esRAGE, the increasing of sRAGE, and blocking of mDia-1 link could be opportunities to inhibit the response of the cell to AGEs. Recently it has been shown that high levels of sRAGE were correlated with longevity of humans [43].

Glycation in Skin

One of the causes of skin aging is the appearance of AGEs (advanced glycosylation end products). AGEs cause biological changes involving activation of synthesis of molecules (macromolecules of



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of Advanced Glycation End Products Receptor: RAGE. Modulation, signaling pathways, and consequences. (a) RAGE

structure. (b) Soluble RAGE. (c)Signaling pathways and consequences (Adapted from Yan [38] and Barlovic [40])

the extracellular matrix, cytokines) and the activation of the matrix metalloproteinases or MMPs (matrix-degrading enzymes). The effect of UV on some AGEs (e.g., pentosidine) generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the matrix with induced additional deleterious effects. AGEs can be formed intracellularly also and consequently change the biological homeostasis of the cell.

Accumulation of AGEs in Skin

AGEs are known to accumulate in human skin during chronological aging [44]. This

accumulation of AGEs in tissues may also be dependent of the protein turnover. Thus in human skin, the fact that collagen has a half-life of 15 years makes it a potential target for the reaction of glycation and accordingly for the accumulation of AGEs [45]. Verzijl has shown using HPLC analysis that the appearance of AGEs in skin seems to be linear during chronological aging. This observation has been confirmed using AGEs immunostaining [46] and by autofluorescence measurement of skin using AGE-Reader which is correlated with the amount of pentosidine [47].

Previously, Sell showed that the accumulation of AGEs (pentosidine) in the skin was inversely proportional to longevity of the species, suggesting that the alteration of the processes controlling the speed of the collagen glycoxidation may be under genetic control, and within the same species according to the considered tissue (and renewal) the rate of accumulation of pentosidine is different [48]. In the skin, the quantities of CML, CEL, or pentosidine are increased by a factor of 3-4 between 20 and 80 years [45]. Glycation collagen accumulates at the rate of 3.7 % annually [49].

However, if the accumulation is linear, structures and levels may be different. All the structures identified as AGEs do not coexist in human skin. For example, the identification of the AGEs in human skin of subject aged 80 years allowed to highlight various structures (linear or crosslinking forming bonds between protein) [50]. The most important AGEs in concentration in skin (from the most highly concentrated to the least concentrated) are: glucosepane, fructosyl-lysine, CML, pentosidine, and CEL. If some AGEs are in significant quantities like glucosepane (on average 1000 pmol/mg protein), others on the contrary are in low concentrations, less than 10 pmol/mg protein (e.g., GOLD = glyoxal-lysine dimer).

If AGEs have been strongly evidenced in the dermis, they were recently observed in epidermis of human skin [51]. In addition to the chronobiological accumulation of AGEs, solar irradiation accelerates their formation [46, 52] (see section "Modulation of glycation by UV light").

AGES Alter Physical Parameters of Skin

Glycation is known to change the organization of collagen fibers and to induce expansion of the molecular packing of collagen [53]. The presence of AGEs in skin changes the mechanical properties thereof in part through the formation of crosslinks. It has been shown that mechanical parameters, using the multiaxial test mode, were altered in elderly diabetic (noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus) subjects compared to nondiabetic subjects of the same age (>74-year-old age group)

[54]. This modification of the mechanical parameters is equivalent to that obtained in vitro by incubation for 4 weeks of normal human skin with 0.5 glucose-6-phosphate The Μ [54]. intermolecular crosslinks of adjacent collagen fibers changes its biomechanical properties [55]. More recently, Wilson et al. described that age-related intermolecular and intramolecular collagen crosslinks interfere with fibrillogenesis, change collagen monomer structure and macroscopic properties. Indeed, these modifications influence the ability of the cells to contract and remodel the collagen constructs [56]. This result was obtained with collagen from rat tail tendon; however, the process with human skin collagen should be similar. In 2008, Corstjens has suggested that the accumulation of AGEs in human skin of elderly subjects and/or overweight could contribute to loss of elasticity [49]. In dermal equivalents containing collagen modified by glycation and fibroblasts used in reconstructed skin models, the properties of contraction are also altered. Dermal equivalents containing collagen modified by glycation show a reduction of contraction as compared to control without glycation [57, 58]. In addition, intracellular glycation has also been shown to reduce collagen gel contraction [59]. In diabetic subjects of type 2, with an increase in the concentrations of fructose-lysine and pentosidine, the plantar skin shows an increase of its thickness and its elastic property is reduced compared to nondiabetic control group [60].

The formations of AGEs on chains of collagen change the global charge. In consequence, the contact with cells and proteins is altered and affect the structure reactivity [61].

Yoshinaga et al. show by optical microscopy that aggregates of CML-modified α -elastin are larger than the unmodified α -elastin. Comparison of the elastic modulus and rupture elongation between unmodified and CML-modified elastic fiber sheets reveals decreased elastic modulus and rupture elongation of the glycated sheets [62].

AGEs could also increase the yellowish change in the skin. In acellular dermis model only a slight yellowish change was produced by the treatment with 200 mM ribose or 10 mM glyoxal. [63].

If changes in the mechanical properties are essentially observed for the dermis or its equivalent, there are also changes in the epidermis. Indeed, the presence of AGEs has been reported in epidermis. Pentosidine identified in the stratum corneum modifies the viscoelasticity properties and could be implicated in the ulceration pathology [60]. Glycated stratum corneum and epidermis-dermis differentially regulate the permeability of hydrophilic molecules [64].

The mechanical changes of skin induced by AGEs thus participate in alterations in elastic properties of skin observed during aging.

Effects of AGEs on Skin Cell Viability

The CML-collagen injection into mouse skin (scalp site) triggers a process of apoptosis of fibroblasts at the site of injection [65]. The same authors also obtained this result with human dermal fibroblasts cultured in the presence of CML-collagen. A time course experiment determined that CML-induced apoptosis was not detected before 6 hours and increased after this time. In addition CML-collagen induced a dose dependent increase in fibroblast apoptosis mediated by RAGE. The CML-collagen-induced apoptosis is highly dependent on the presence of caspases 3, 8, and 9. In addition, after extraction of the fibroblasts cultured in the presence of CML-collagen, the level of mRNA coding for genes involved in apoptosis was altered (P53 gene was upregulated six-fold while Bcl-2 gene was downregulated by two-fold). The proapoptotic FOXO1 transcription factor induced by CML-collagen stimulated the fibroblast apoptosis and reduced by 75 % if FOXO1 is silenced [66]. The use of inhibitors helped to highlight that the CML-collagen-induced apoptosis was dependent on reactive oxygen species (ROS), of nitric oxide (NO), ceramide, p38, and JNK MAP kinase activation, inducing FOXO1 and caspase 3. Similar results involving the effect of the ROS inducing changes of proliferation and cell death have been reported [67]. In the culture medium of cultured fibroblasts in the presence of glyoxal and methylglyoxal, the concentration of hydrogen

peroxide increases by a factor of 2 causing a without growth arrest apoptotic process [68]. The involvement of receptor RAGE and growth factor receptors (EGFR, FGFR-1, and FGFR-2) were likely to be involved in apoptosis and also in maintaining the effect after exposure to AGEs [67]. This is correlated with the results of Ravelojaona and colleagues that demonstrate a cytotoxic effect when fibroblasts are cultured in the presence of AGEs. This effect persisted when fibroblasts were transferred into a new medium devoid of glycation end products. The authors suggest that the persistence of the toxicity is maintained by RAGE [69]. However, recent results show that apoptosis is not necessarily due to the presence of RAGE. Indeed. 3-deoxyglucosone (3DG), a highly reactive precursor α -dicarbonyl of AGEs, induces oxidative stress and activation of caspase 3 without the intervention of the RAGE. Apoptosis induced by the 3DG would be via integrin $\alpha 1\beta 1$ [41].

AGEs could provoke cellular senescence. Indeed, as a function of passages, fibroblasts accumulate pentosidine and the number of cells decreases. These results suggest an alteration of antiglycoxidation defense systems of the cell when the passages increase allowing accumulation of pentosidine and altering the properties of fibroblasts [70]. When fibroblasts are submitted to AGEs and perform successive passages, β-galactosidase positive cells increase as compared to fibroblasts which were not in contact with the AGEs. The increase in the number of fibroblasts with a senescent phenotype is a function of the AGE contact time [71]. We showed in our laboratory that the type of AGEs can be important also in the cellular senescence process. Indeed, the exposure of fibroblasts to CML or MG-H1 during one week caused an increase in β-galactosidase positive cells after successive passages. The number of senescent cells increase according to the time spent in culture, as expected, and this increase is higher when the cells are preexposed to AGE products. It seems that the senescent potential effect was higher with MG-H1 as compared with CML (Fig. 4). Incubation of fibroblasts with glyoxal or methylglyoxal also causes this increase in senescence. The



Fig. 4 Percentage of senescent cells (positive β -galactosidase cells) in function of passage number. Each point represents the mean of human skin fibroblasts cultures

from four donors treated or not with CML (600 μ M) or MG-H1 (600 μ M) during 1 week before the successive passages

reversion of the phenomenon does not appear before 72 h after replacing fibroblasts in a new culture medium without AGEs [68]. Like fibroblasts, normal human keratinocytes show a decrease of viability in presence of glucose or glyoxal. The proportion of β -galactosidase-positive cells increased significantly in number by 52 % in 100 mM glucose and by 44 % in 100 μ M glyoxal-treated keratinocytes and in the same time glycoxidation level of total proteins was 58 and 68 % higher, respectively [72]. The AGEs effect on the keratinocyte viability has also been reported and associated to loss of their migratory and proliferation abilities [73].

Solar irradiation can affect the viability also. The viability of dermal fibroblasts cultured in presence of AGEs and exposed to UVA is reduced [74].

This effect of AGEs on cell viability (senescence and apoptosis) is particularly important because it could contribute to cell loss observed during aging of the skin.

Effect of AGEs on the Synthesis of the Dermal Matrix and Epidermal Cells

The bibliography described essentially the glycation modifications on the collagens and

elastin; however, any protein is susceptible to be modified and in consequence to participate to dermal dysfunction [46, 55, 62, 75]. Glycation end products affect the physiology of fibroblasts in terms of mRNA and protein expression. Indeed when fibroblasts are cultured in the presence of AGEs, the synthesis of extracellular matrix proteins is altered. Thus, the synthesis of collagen type I is increased by 28 % and synthesis of hyaluronic acid is reduced by 40-50 %. Modulation of this synthesis is based on the concentration of AGEs in the culture medium [76]. Unlike Okano et al. it has been observed a decrease in the synthesis of type I procollagen. The same authors also observed alteration of type I procollagen mRNA expression in the presence of $\beta 2$ microglobulin or bovine serum albumin (BSA) as amended by glycation [77]. More recently, other authors have described other changes on the extracellular matrix mRNA expression using microarrays: downregulation of fibronectin, chain $\alpha 2$ of type I collagen, chain $\alpha 1$ of type III collagen, and decorin [78]. If Molinari described a reduction of these mRNAs, however, other authors observed overexpression of mRNA for the chain $\alpha 2$ of type I procollagen and chain $\alpha 1$ of type III procollagen [79]. Using a reconstructed skin system modified by glycation, an increase of type I procollagen [80], type III procollagen, and type VII collagen [81, 82] synthesis was also observed.

In addition, specific AGEs influence soluble factor releasing like growth factor or proinflammatory molecules [80]. VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) was reduced which could lead to the increasing scarcity of vessels reported in skin aging [83] or enhanced MCP1 (monocytes chemoattractant protein type I) known to be involved in matrix protein synthesis [84] or in inflammatory response [85, 86].

Indirectly, glycation in the dermis could modify the biology of epidermis. Indeed, a persistence of $\beta 1$ integrin subunit was observed in the suprabasal layer of epidermis and an increase of $\alpha 6$ expression in the basal layer mediated by soluble factor synthesis from fibroblasts [58, 81]. These integrin subunits have been reported to be associated with epidermal stem cells [87], or a dedifferentiation process [88] or a hyperproliferative process [89].

Recently CML was detected in human epidermis associated with keratin 10 [51] and probably with other members of the keratin family [90]. Other authors identified previously the presence of glycated proteins in the stratum corneum of diabetic subject [91] and more specifically pentosidine in the stratum corneum of plantar epidermis [60]. As a consequence, AGEs could the epidermal physiology modify like keratinocyte migration [73]: by increasing MMP9 expression [92, 93], by induction of terminal differentiation markers [92], or by reducing the synthesis of antimicrobial peptides like defensin $\beta 2$ and $\beta 3$ [94, 95]. These modifications could be involved in wound-healing defect or infection in diabetic subjects.

It has been recently reported that changes in the dermal matrix caused by collagen I glycation also affects the epidermal compartment. Indeed, glycation of collagen induces the synthesis of carboxymethyllysine in both dermal and epidermal compartments. The aging phenotype consisting of poor stratification of epidermal layers and vacuolization of keratinocyte cytoplasm, increasing expression of cell–cell adhesion markers, such as desmoglein and E-cadherin or upregulation of keratin 10 and 14 were observed in glycated skins [96]. Recently, a system of reconstructed skin treated by glyoxal to induce CML showed an alteration of capillary and nerve networks associated with a lack of both loricirin and filaggrin in epidermis reflected an epidermal terminal differentiation defect [97].

If all experiments show that the AGEs alter the expression and synthesis of extracellular matrix molecules, the results are not necessarily the same (either increased or decreased). This can be explained by the different AGEs structures generated in protein solutions modified by glycation. All these extracellular matrix molecules are essential actors in the stability of the dermal matrix and their alteration can change the balance and have a role in aging of the skin.

Effect of AGEs on the Degradation of the Dermal Matrix

AGEs can also modify the expression and synthesis of enzymes which are responsible for ECM degradation. AGEs has been showed to alter the elastase-type matrix metalloproteinase (ET-MMT) activity in human fibroblasts: ET-MMT activity was reduced in a dosedependent manner (by -27 % and -41 % for 1.25 and 10 mg of AGEs per ml) while no effect was detected on the secretion of MMP1 in the culture medium. Dysfunctions of dermal fibroblasts are induced by AGEs [76]. The modulation of MMPs (matrix metalloproteinases) by AGEs in fibroblasts cultures was observed in another study. Indeed, Molinari et al. have observed an upregulation of mRNA coding for MMP8 and 9 (202 % and 160 %, respectively, as compared to the control) [78]. A decrease of mRNA MMP3 expression in fibroblasts has been observed after contact with CML [98] and also the MMP3 expression in in vitro skin 3D model containing CML in the dermis [80]. Using a 3D system, containing collagen modified by glycation and fibroblasts without keratinocytes, MMP1 synthetized by fibroblasts was decreased but no modification of pro-MMP2. However, MMP2 activation (observed by zymography method) was strongly inhibited by AGEs without modification of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase (TIMP-1 and 2) production [57]. In a full thickness reconstructed skin system, AGEs induced overexpression of MMPs synthesis and activity which could be correlated with a decrease of the thickness dermis probably degraded by these MMPs [81].

Concept of AGE's Biological Specificity in Skin

The AGEs family is characterized by different chemical structure like linear chain or cyclic structure or crosslinks between proteins. AGEs bound to lysine or arginine residues could have opposite effects concerning the expression of biological markers (blocking of Lys or Arg and/or leading to modifications of charge). Indeed, it seems that AGEs-crosslinks (like pentosidine) induce a downregulation of mRNA coding for matrix molecules [80] which could explain in part the volume reduction of dermal molecules which is observed during aging skin like collagen [99], proteoglycans, and glycosaminoglycans [100]. This concept of specific reactivity has been previously notified without structure identification. Indeed, Ohashi et al. described with monocytes a response depending on the BSA-AGE preparation. BSA-AGEs obtained after incubation with Dglyceraldehyde or D-glycoladehyde stimulate the RAGE expression and increase cytokine production while with BSA-AGEs obtained bv methylglyoxal or glyoxal no effect are detected [101]. In the same way, fibroblasts cultivated in presence of methylglyoxal induce an upregulation of mRNA Col1A1, Col3A1, TGFB1, and B1 integrin as opposed to incubation with 3-deoxyglucosone which provoke а downregulation of these mRNA [102]. In addition, Abe et al. demonstrated a different invasive potential with tumoral melanocytes in function of the AGEs preparation type [103]. In addition, our results seem to show a different effect concerning the senescence intensity when human dermal fibroblasts were cultivated in presence of CML or MG-H1 (Fig. 4).

Glycation and the Monocyte Lineage in Skin

The effect of AGEs on monocytes and macrophages has been studied; the most important effects are proliferation, apoptosis, and differentiation. Hou et al. reported that AGEs delayed apoptosis of monocytes and induced monocytic differentiation into macrophage morphology [104]. Also, dendritic cell maturation of monocyte-derived cells by AGEs was reported [105]. AGES could affect the number of monocyte-derived cells (CD45⁺, CD14⁺) in the dermis and lead to dendritic cells/macrophages Interestingly, differentiation [106]. Gunin et al. observed a monocyte cell increase in the dermis with aging [107]. AGEs exert a chemotactic effect toward the monocytes [108] and endothelial cells in contact with AGEs released the chemokines MCP-1 - monocyte chemoattractant protein type 1 [109–111]. AGEs stimulate the synthesis of factors or proinflammatory cytokines by monocytes and macrophages [104, 111–114] or increase the extracellular matrix degradation induced by metalloproteinase, e.g., MMP-9 [115, 116]. Both receptors, SRA and RAGE were expressed by CD14⁺ cells [106]. RAGE was reported to induce the secretion of MMPs [116, 117] and inflammatory factors by monocytes or macrophages [113, 114]. Overexpression of SRA suppressed RAGE-induced MAPK signaling, whereas RAGE activation in macrophages favors a proinflammatory phenotype in absence of SRA [118]. As a consequence, the accumulation of these cells in skin could favor an inflammation process, a loss of dermal matrix balance, and skin homeostasis.

Interaction of AGEs with Cell Membranes

AGEs seem to have an important interaction with cell membranes. After incubation of fibroblasts in the presence of AGEs, a level of AGEs in the cellular lysate associated to liposomes and an increase in membrane fluidity was observed [76]. In addition, the lactate dehydrogenase

(LDH) release from fibroblasts measured in the culture media in the presence of AGEs was found to be increased in a dose-dependent manner without affecting cell viability corresponding to a loss of membrane permeability.

AGEs and Intracellular Activity

If AGEs alter extracellular matrix in skin, also intracellular proteins are modified by AGEs products. Kueper et al. reported that vimentin (intermediate filament) was the major target for CML in human skin fibroblasts. Crosslinked by AGEs, vimentin was redistributed into a perinuclear aggregate. This rearrangement of CML-vimentin was identified as an "aggresome". The consequence was a reduction of contraction properties on collagen gel by fibroblasts. A treatment of fibroblasts by glyoxal exhibited CML modification in vimentin. Like this, the contractile capacity of three-dimensional collagen gel as compared to untreated fibroblasts was decreased [59]. In another study, the same author demonstrated that methylglyoxal induced also the aggregation of vimentin. Vimentin could be modified, not only by CML and CEL but also by pentosidine and pyrraline [119]. The accumulation of modified vimentin is observed in fibroblasts from human facial skin biopsies of aged donors [59]. The skin of the face being exposed to UV, we can hypothesize that these "aggresome" formations could be directly related to the oxidative stress induced by them via the generation of α -dicarbonyl compounds such as glyoxal. Interestingly, Shin et al. reported that expression of CML-vimentin increased in HDMEC (human dermal microvascular endothelial cells) during culture and passage, an effect which was reversed by intense pulsed light treatment [120].

AGEs can also modify other constituents of the cell. Indeed, the enzymatic activity of proteasome (intracellular proteolytic system involved in the removal of altered proteins) can be reduced by glycation after glyoxal treatment on dermal fibroblasts [121]. Also, the proteinase activities of the proteasome decline during aging, probably due to

posttranslational modifications of the subunits forming the proteasome complex. An age-related increase in glycated α 7 subunit of the proteasome was observed after serial passing of human skin fibroblasts [122]. Glycation of the proteasome has also been reported for keratinocytes. After glucose treatment, proteasome glycation increased by +61 % with a synchronous decrease of its activity (-44 %) [72]. AGE-modified proteins, with a decrease in proteasome activity and content, were found in keratinocytes from old donors [123].

Also alterations of antioxidant (SOD and Catalase) enzyme activities were observed [68, 124] with increased oxidative reactions in the cells.

In addition, HScP 70 (heat shock cognate protein 70) is a target for AGE modification in senescent human dermal fibroblasts [125].

DNA of the cells is also sensitive to glycation. То mimic the cellular carbonyl stress, keratinocytes and fibroblasts from human skin were cultivated in presence of glyoxal or methylglyoxal. Both dicarbonyl compounds caused growth inhibition of cells (concentration dependent) and in addition this treatment pro-CML accumulation voked in histones (<0.10 mmol CML/mol lysine from untreated and 1.3 mmol CML/mol lysine from glyoxal treated keratinocytes) and DNA strand cleavage. Interestingly, at the molecular level the effects of α -dicarbonyl compounds were different. Indeed, glyoxal caused DNA strand breaks, while methylglyoxal produced extensive DNA-protein crosslinking [126].

Modulation of Glycation by UV Light

It is now well known that ultraviolet radiations and especially UVA have a deleterious effect on dermis and fibroblasts [127]. The dermal extracellular matrix is sensitive to UVA. UVA induces an oxidant stress in the dermis environment which could be related to existing crosslinking on collagen [128]. In vitro, the viability of dermal fibroblasts cultured in the presence of AGEs and exposed to UVA decreases and the rate of lipid peroxides in fibroblasts and liposomes increases [74]. This loss of viability can be explained by the production of radical oxygen species like superoxide anion radicals (O_{2}) and hydroxyl radicals (OH) after AGEs irradiation. The hydroxyl radical is derived from the production of hydrogen peroxide after irradiation of AGEs via the Fenton reaction. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) increases in an AGEs concentration-dependent and UVA dose-dependent manner. Pentosidine-rich compounds exposed to UVA release H₂O₂ [129] and provoke cellular deleterious effects like cell damage leading to LDH accumulation outside the cell. In addition, the enzymatic system able to eliminate H2O2 declines with age. The activity of catalase in stratum corneum declines in an age-dependent manner on sun-exposed sites and the creatine kinase activity decreases after in vitro glycation by methylglyoxal [130], and in addition the inactivations of catalase and superoxide dismutase by sugars of different glycating abilities have been described [124].

Pentosidine is established as photosensitizer-AGEs because associated to UVA it leads to the formation of ${}_{1}O^{2}$. Consequently, AGE sensitization can be implicated in photodamage of glycated lens proteins and chronologically aged human skin. Photosensitization of skin cell as photooxidative stress by UVA-irradiation of AGE modified proteins has been demonstrated in cultured human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes [131]. Due to accumulation of skin AGEs during aging, involvement of AGE photosensitization in skin photooxidative stress may contribute to UVA-induced photoaging and carcinogenesis. Accumulation of AGEs was enhanced with UV preirradiated DED and incubated with sugar [46]. In vivo, CML and pentosidine accumulation in sun-exposed skin especially in the aged group has been described. A vicious circle is envisioned in which the presence of AGEs in a tissue accelerates the formation of additional glycoxidation products following UV exposure [52]. Another study shows that AGE staining was increased in UV-exposed dermis as compared to UV-protected skin [132]. In the dermis of sun-exposed skin, the number and the intensity of CML positive cells in both fibroblasts and endothelial cells was higher compared to sun-protected site and significantly enhanced in older subjects [2]. Interestingly, low dose of UVA associated with the presence of AGEs in skin in vitro could provoke inflammation and matrix degradation by synthesis of IL1 α and upregulation of mRNA MMPs [133].

In solar elastosis, a colocalization of elastin and CML has been observed [75]. The oxidation induced via ultraviolet could promote the emergence of CML (a glycoxidation product) at this particular zone. This accumulation of AGEs which correlates with the presence of elastin was also observed by Jeanmaire et al. [46]. The CML-modified elastin is more resistant to degradation by elastase [62]. After irradiation of in vitro skin containing AGEs, upregulations of mRNA coding for tropoelastin, elastase, and MMP12 were observed emphasizing the possible direct implication in the elastosis process [133]. In addition, in monolayer culture of fibroblasts we showed an increase of tropoelastin synthesis after stimulation by MG-H1. No effect was observed after CML stimulation (Fig. 5).

Also CML was detected in human epidermis associated with different members of the keratin family after UVB exposition [90]. AGEs were enhanced in the stratum corneum and in the nuclear of epidermal cells of UV-exposed as compared to UV-protected skin [132]. An age-dependent adaption and protective mechanisms of the epidermis has been suggested against sunlight-associated oxidative stress like CML formation [134].

RAGE in Skin Aging

The distribution pattern of AGEs receptor (RAGE) is modified in epidermis and dermis in function of chronological aging and photo-aging (sun-protected or sun-exposed site). In young skin from breast (sun-protected), RAGE was more expressed in the upper part of the epidermis and dermis as opposed to old donor where RAGE was preferentially expressed in lower parts. In the sun-exposed face (old donor) the distribution of



Fig. 5 Stimulation of the tropoelastin synthesis by AGEs. Immunostaining of tropoelastin (a–f) on human dermal fibroblasts from two different donors – donor#1

RAGE was almost similar to old skin from breast except for the upper dermis where RAGE was more expressed which can be attributed to photoaging. RAGE is highly expressed in skin and upregulated in sun-exposed sites [98]. Interestingly, human foreskin fibroblasts stimulated by CML and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) resulted in upregulation of RAGE expression and CML induced profibrogenic markers like connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF β 1), and chain α 1 of type I procollagen. CML could not be the only AGEs structure responsible for the induction of RAGE. Indeed, Buetler et al. demonstrated that CML do

(a, c, e) and donor#2 (b, d, f) treated with CML (c, d) or MG-H1 (e, f) or without treatment (a, b). $100 \times \text{magnification}$

not form the necessary structure to interact with RAGE. This could be explained by the method of CML preparation which would generate other structures which can react with RAGE [135]. Such observation was previously reported by Twigg et al. since CTGF was induced by AGE-BSA stimulated human dermal fibroblasts but not by the RAGE-specific ligand CML-BSA [136]. However, it was interesting to note that a weak expression of RAGE in fibroblasts [137] and absence of induction in the expression of mRNA RAGE in keratinocytes have been reported [92].

It was highlighted that the presence of AGEs could induce the differentiation of normal human

keratinocytes (increase of keratin 10 and involucrin) and increases the expression of MMP9 via CD36 receptor expression (but not other types of receptors). This interaction could contribute to explain the mechanism involved in some pathologies related to diabetes such as perforating dermatosis (biopsies of these patients express strongly the CD36 and MMP9) [92]. A more recent study has also shown the involvement of AGEs in wound-healing defects related to diabetes via an increase in the rate of MMP9 (protein and mRNA) as shown on cultures of keratinocytes [73] mediated by RAGE, ERK1/2, p38MAPK pathways, and also activation of NFkB. In the mouse model, RAGE expression in keratinocytes is involved in acute inflammation and supports the role of RAGE in paracrine communication between keratinocytes and stromal immune cells like monocytes and macrophages [138]. Also RAGE was described to be involved in skin pathologies. Indeed, e.g., RAGE is involved in tumoral pathology like melanoma [103] or promoted the development of immune mediated disorders, like psoriasis, through the regulation of many proinflammatory genes [139]. Recently, the implication of RAGE in squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) has been described. The proliferation and migratory activity of normal keratinocytes and SCC was induced by S100A8/A9 and abolished by blocking RAGE [140].

Particular Case of Melanocyte/ Melanoma

AGEs could also influence melanocyte physiology. Indeed, an indirect effect mediated by MCP1 released by fibroblasts in contact with AGEs has been reported. Melanocyte MCP1 receptor could induce tyrosinase expression and increase activity [141]. In addition, upregulation of MCP1 mRNA [110] and MCP1 protein [142] is induced by endothelial cells after contact with AGEs. Previously, it has been described that in parallel with AGEs inhibition, a reduction of tyrosinase activity was observed, suggesting a possible relationship between them [143]. However, in the Japanese population, the AGEs index does not seem to indicate an alteration in the melanin amount [144]. More recently, Leblanc-Noblesse et al. described the correlation between AGEs and solar lentigo. In this study, CML was enhanced in the dermis of solar lentigo as compared to the adjacent photoexposed zone. Autofluorescence measurement (AGE Reader) of the skin was linked to depigmentation [145].

In pathologies such as melanoma (described in the mouse model), overexpression of RAGE might be responsible for the development of tumors and the metastatic ability of cells; the use of anti-RAGE antibodies reduces this effect [103]. This observation has been reported more recently in humans in the case of melanoma where the expression of the RAGE and S100 ligand are strongly increased [146]. Also, binding extracellular S100P to RAGE or coupling the intracellular S100P with ezrin (a cytoskeletal protein) was involved in tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis. The coordinate upregulation of S100P, RAGE, and ezrin may provoke the malignant transformation of melanoma [147].

How to Fight Against AGEs?

Since AGEs are known to have an impact on aging and certain diseases (including diabetesrelated), work has been undertaken in order to find ways to reduce the reaction of glycation, accumulation of AGEs, and its effects on tissues. Many dedicated publications [148–150] have detailed various molecules and strategies to protect from glycation. The main possibilities to protect from glycation with some examples are described below:

Prevention

Different types of strategies [149] or molecules [148] already exist to prevent glycation: (i) competition with protein amino groups (for example, aspirin can react with the amino group by acetylation, anti-inflammatory molecules like ibuprofen and diclofenac have a protective effect against glycation by protecting the enzymes from inactivation via the glycation as catalase for example); (ii) binding to the protein to reduce the accessibility of the amino group, the elimination of the open form of the sugar in the reaction of glycation (amino acids, polyamines, peptides as carnosine which can also react with the protein carbonylated and prevent the formation of crosslinks) and (iii) binding to a reactive intermediate to prevent the appearance of the terminal product (aminoguanidine can react with the product of Amadori thus blocking the following reactions. However, the aminoguanidine can also react directly with the sugar, to eliminate methylglyoxal and other dicarbonyls and to act as a chelator of metals. Another example is the metformin which could act by removing the intermediate reagents).

The use of plant extracts is also a source of glycation inhibitors, most often associated with antioxidant activities of the molecule families contained in extracts like blueberry. Using blueberry extract in reconstructed skin as glycation inhibitor, a return to a normal pattern concerning the biological markers previously modified by the presence of AGEs has been observed [58]. Flavonoids (antioxidants present in vegetal foods) at micromolar concentrations are very potent inhibitors of pentosidine formation in collagens [151]. Other vegetable substances containing the puerarine and chlorogenic acid have also inhibitory activity [152]. Consumable plants are also sources of AGEs inhibition (in vitro) like ginger, cumin, black pepper, green tea [153]. Tea polyphenols like epicatechin and theaflavin can also trap the methylglyoxal and reduce the accumulation of AGEs [154].

Crosslinks Breakers

Thiazolium salts have been studied and the first results suggested they were able to break crosslinks (especially of the di-ketone crosslinks) [155, 156]. If the exact mechanism of action remains disputed [157], experimental results showed a restoration of the flexibility of arteries after administration of thiazolium salts to animals characterized by experimentally induced diabetes [158].

Prevention of the Consequences of Glycation

Modulation of RAGE expression could be a means to reduce the incidence of AGEs [159]. For instance, nifedipine can inhibit overexpression of RAGE by removing the appearance of reactive oxygen species [160].

Intracellular Defense Systems

Several systems of defense against glycation are described in the literature. This role is played by several enzymes: the fructosylamine oxidase (amadoriases), fructosamine 3 kinase (FN3K), and the glyoxalase system.

Fructosylamine Oxidase or Amadoriases: Horiuchi has isolated fructosylamine oxidase (FAO) from Corynebacterium sp. [161]. Subsequently various FAO have been isolated and cloned from different microorganisms. It may be noted that two enzymes have been isolated from Aspergillus sp. (amadoriase I and amadoriase II). FAO oxidizes the Amadori product and generates H₂O₂. The Amadori product obtained after oxidation breaks down spontaneously through hydrolysis. The result is a free amine, glucosone, and H₂O₂. In higher organisms the FAO has not been identified. FAO can remove AGEs only from products with low molecular weight but is not active on the BSA glycated proteins as example. Two hypotheses can explain this activity: (i) small PM products can be easily placed near the active site of the enzyme and (ii) the charges brought by the protein affect the protein enzyme interaction [162].

Fructosamine 3-Kinase (FN3K): Szwergold identified 3-phosphate fructose in the lens of diabetic rats [163]. Then the fructoamine 3-kinase was identified from a lysate of erythrocytes [164]. Fructosamine 3 kinase phosphorylates Amadori products and generates 3-phosphate fructose which breaks down into a residue lysine, a phosphate and 3-deoxyglucosone (3DG). The fructosamine 3 kinase (FN3K) gene is expressed in all tissues. The enzyme was intracellular and ATP dependent; the deglycation of the product of

Amadori in the extracellular matrix is, therefore, not possible. The existence of a fructosamine 3-kinase-related-protein (FN3KRP) has been described in addition to the FN3K with a similar mechanism [165]. It can be assumed that the use of assets protecting these enzymes or their disappearance during the aging process (if this is the case) would be beneficial for the cell.

Glyoxalase: The glyoxalase system present in the cytosol of cells catalyzes the conversion of methylglyoxal in D-lactate via an intermediary S-D-lactoylglutathione [42]. The system consists of two enzymes, glyoxalase I (Glo1) and glyoxalase II (Glo2) and the GSH (glutathione). The main substrate of Glo1 is the methylglyoxal, but glyoxal(the hydroxypyrivaldehyde) and 4, 5-doxovalerate are also potential substrates. Glo1 and the glyoxalase system prevent the α -oxoaldehydes formation inside the cells. Enzymatic defense (glyoxalase) decreases during aging (particularly Glo1). Oxidative stress is closely linked with glycation because GSH depletion in oxidative stress also decreases activity in situ of Glo1 and thus increases the concentrations of glyoxal and methylglyoxal and therefore accumulation of AGEs as well as possible increase of radical oxygen.

In the aging of *C. elegans*, an accumulation of MG-H1 (methylglyoxal hydroimidazolone) in the mitochondria was observed. If Glo1 is stimulated, MG-H1 appearance is prevented and the life of C. elegans increases. If Glo1 is silenced the lifespan of C. elegans decreases. The decline of Glo1 with aging has been also highlighted in rodents and humans. The Glo1 activity is directly proportional to the concentration of GSH. In lens, the concentration of GSH decreases with age while MG-H1 increases, thus the protective role of GSH in aging is not only related to its antioxidant function but also its role as cofactor in the glyoxalase system. Recent results suggest that hyperglycemia could decrease the expression of Glo1 by increased activity and activation of RAGE [166, 167]. It was reported that the genomic expression of Glo1 is variable; therefore, the significance of the expression of Glo1 could be an important factor to be considered in research on aging.

DJ-1/PARK7

Recently has been reported a new antiglycating enzyme activity. This enzyme is DJ-1/PARK7. The Parkinsonism-associated protein DJ-1/Park7 is described as a multifunctional oxidative stress response protein. DJ-1 is a protein deglycase that repairs methylglyoxal- and glyoxal-glycated amino acids and proteins by acting on early glycation intermediates and releases deglycated proteins and lactate or glycolate, respectively [168].

Diet

It is established that the origin of AGEs in the body is not only endogenous but also exogenous. Glycation reagents (named glycotoxines) are present in aqueous tobacco extract and smoke in a form that can quickly react with proteins to form AGEs and this reaction is inhibited by aminoguanidine [169]. It is also known that food and the way used for cooking can be a source of exogenous AGEs by ingestion. Recently, Uribarri has published a list of foods with AGEs, named dAGEs for dietary AGEs. Heat (cooking mode) increases the formation of new dAGEs by ten- to hundredfold as compared to the raw food. The cooking mode or the use of acidic ingredients (e.g., lemon juice) can reduce the formation of the dAGEs [170].

If the cooking mode affects the appearance of AGEs, caloric restriction can also regulate the concentration of AGEs [171]. Animal caloric restriction studies have shown an increase in life expectancy, a decline in the rate of insulin and glucose [172], or even a reduction of oxidative damage [173]. In addition, some caloric restriction studies have been conducted in humans in whom a decrease of atherosclerosis risk, diabetes, and a reduction of inflammatory processes were observed [174]. Most of these changes can be linked to the reduction of the rate of glycation.

Taken together, these findings suggest that healthy diet associated with selected cooking modes could limit the addition of an exogenous supply of AGEs.



Fig. 6 Schematic effects of AGEs in the skin. *F* fibroblasts, *K* feratinocytes, *M* melanocyte, *Mo* monocytes, *LDH* lactate deshydrogenase, *MMP* matrix

Conclusion

Taken together, these reports brought together in this chapter allow us to stress the importance of glycation in skin aging. Most skin alterations caused by AGEs (Fig. 6) are correlated with the major biochemical changes and signaling pathways involved in the generation of intrinsically and extrinsically aged skin [175]. Skin aging is characterized by the progressive degradation of skin components, the development of an metalloproteinase, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *MCP1* monocyte chemoattractan protein type 1, *ROS* reactive oxygen species

inflammatory environment, and it's selfmaintaining due to the progressive accumulation of AGE products.

References

- Hofmann B, Adam AC, Jacobs K, et al. Advanced glycation end product associated skin autofluorescence: a mirror of vascular function? Exp Gerontol. 2013;48(1):38–44.
- 2. Crisan M, Taulescu M, Crisan D, et al. Expression of advanced glycation end-products on sun-exposed and

non-exposed cutaneous sites during the ageing process in humans. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):1-8. e75003.

- Maillard LC. Action des acides aminés sur les sucres: formation des mélanoïdines par voie méthodique. C R Acad Sci. 1912;154:66–8.
- Monnier VM, Cerami A. Nonenzymatic browning in vivo: possible process for aging of long-lived proteins. Science. 1981;211(4481):491–3.
- 5. Tessier FJ. The Maillard reaction in the human body. The main discoveries and factors that affect glycation. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2010;58(3):214–9.
- Skovsted IC, Christensen M, Breinholt J, et al. Characterisation of a novel AGE-compound derived from lysine and 3-deoxyglucosone. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-Grand). 1998;44(7):1159–63.
- Wells-Knecht KJ, Brinkmann E, Wells-Knecht MC, et al. New biomarkers of Maillard reaction damage to proteins. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1996;11 Suppl 5:41–7.
- Baynes JW, Thorpe SR. Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications: a new perspective on an old paradigm. Diabetes. 1999;48(1):1–9.
- Thornalley PJ. Dicarbonyl intermediates in the maillard reaction. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1043:111–7.
- Reihl O, Lederer MO, Schwack W. Characterization and detection of lysine-arginine cross-links derived from dehydroascorbic acid. Carbohydr Res. 2004;339 (3):483–91.
- Sima AA, Sugimoto K. Experimental diabetic neuropathy: an update. Diabetologia. 1999;42(7):773–88.
- Glomb MA, Monnier VM. Mechanism of protein modification by glyoxal and glycolaldehyde, reactive intermediates of the Maillard reaction. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(17):10017–26.
- Grandhee SK, Monnier VM. Mechanism of formation of the Maillard protein cross-link pentosidine. Glucose, fructose, and ascorbate as pentosidine precursors. J Biol Chem. 1991;266(18):11649–53.
- 14. Dyer DG, Blackledge JA, Thorpe SR, et al. Formation of pentosidine during nonenzymatic browning of proteins by glucose. Identification of glucose and other carbohydrates as possible precursors of pentosidine in vivo. J Biol Chem. 1991;266 (18):11654–60.
- Chappey O, Dosquet C, Wautier MP, et al. Advanced glycation end products, oxidant stress and vascular lesions. Eur J Clin Invest. 1997;27(2):97–108.
- Sell DR, Strauch CM, Shen W, et al. 2-aminoadipic acid is a marker of protein carbonyl oxidation in the aging human skin: effects of diabetes, renal failure and sepsis. Biochem J. 2007;404(2):269–77.
- Sell DR, Monnier VM. Ornithine is a novel amino acid and a marker of arginine damage by oxoaldehydes in senescent proteins. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1043:118–28.
- Monnier VM, Sell DR. Prevention and repair of protein damage by the Maillard reaction in vivo. Rejuvenation Res. 2006;9(2):264–73.

- Fan X, Sell DR, Zhang J, et al. Anaerobic vs aerobic pathways of carbonyl and oxidant stress in human lens and skin during aging and in diabetes: a comparative analysis. Free Radic Biol Med. 2010;49(5):847–56.
- Dyer DG, Blackledge JA, Katz BM, et al. The Maillard reaction in vivo. Z Ernahrungswiss. 1991;30(1):29–45.
- Gillery P, Monboisse JC, Maquart FX, et al. Glycation of proteins as a source of superoxide. Diabete Metab. 1988;14(1):25–30.
- Jiang ZY, Woollard AC, Wolff SP. Hydrogen peroxide production during experimental protein glycation. FEBS Lett. 1990;268(1):69–71.
- 23. Namiki M, Hayashi T. A new mechanism of the Maillard reaction involving sugar fragmentation and free radical formation. In: Waller GR, Feather MS, editors. The Maillard reaction in foods and nutrition, ACS symposium, series 215. Washington DC: American Chemical Society; 1983.
- Wolff SP, Jiang ZY, Hunt JV. Protein glycation and oxidative stress in diabetes mellitus and ageing. Free Radic Biol Med. 1991;10(5):339–52.
- Baynes JW, Thorpe SR. Glycoxidation and lipoxidation in atherogenesis. Free Radic Biol Med. 2000;28(12):1708–16.
- 26. Fu MX, Requena JR, Jenkins AJ, et al. The advanced glycation end product, Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl) lysine, is a product of both lipid peroxidation and glycoxidation reactions. J Biol Chem. 1996;271 (17):9982–6.
- Requena JR, Fu MX, Ahmed MU, et al. Lipoxidation products as biomarkers of oxidative damage to proteins during lipid peroxidation reactions. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1996;11 Suppl 5:48–53.
- Singh R, Barden A, Mori T, et al. Advanced glycation end-products: a review. Diabetologia. 2001;44 (2):129–46. Review. Erratum in: Diabetologia 2002; 45(2):293.
- Sell DR, Monnier VM. Molecular basis of arterial stiffening: role of glycation - a mini review. Gerontology. 2012;58(3):227–237.
- Cai W, He JC, Zhu L, et al. Advanced glycation end product (AGE) receptor 1 suppresses cell oxidant stress and activation signaling via EGF receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(37):13801–6.
- 31. Lu C, He JC, Cai W, et al. Advanced glycation endproduct (AGE) receptor 1 is a negative regulator of the inflammatory response to AGE in mesangial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101 (32):11767–72.
- Goh KC, Lim YP, Ong SH, et al. Identification of p90, a prominent tyrosine-phosphorylated protein in fibroblast growth factor-stimulated cells, as 80K-H. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(10):5832–8.
- 33. Vlassara H, Li YM, et al. Identification of galectin-3 as a high-affinity binding protein for advanced glycation end products (AGE): a new member of the AGE-receptor complex. Mol Med. 1995;1 (6):634–46.

- 34. Pepe D, Elliott CG, Forbes TL, et al. Detection of galectin-3 and localization of advanced glycation end products (AGE) in human chronic skin wounds. Histol Histopathol. 2014;29(2):251–8.
- Stitt AW, He C, Vlassara H. Characterization of the advanced glycation end-product receptor complex in human vascular endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;256(3):549–56.
- 36. Matsumoto K, Sano H, Nagai R, et al. Endocytic uptake of advanced glycation end products by mouse liver sinusoidal endothelial cells is mediated by a scavenger receptor distinct from the macrophage scavenger receptor class A. Biochem J. 2000;352 (Pt 1):233–40.
- 37. Ohgami N, Nagai R, Ikemoto M, et al. Cd36, a member of the class b scavenger receptor family, as a receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(5):3195–202.
- Yan SF, Ramasamy R, Schmidt AM. Soluble RAGE: therapy and biomarker in unraveling the RAGE axis in chronic disease and aging. Biochem Pharmacol. 2010;79(10):1379–86.
- Bierhaus A, Humpert PM, Morcos M, et al. Understanding RAGE, the receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Mol Med (Berl). 2005;83 (11):876–86.
- Barlovic DP, Soro-Paavonen A, Jandeleit-Dahm KA. RAGE biology, atherosclerosis and diabetes. Clin Sci (Lond). 2011;121(2):43–55.
- 41. Loughlin DT, Artlett CM. Precursor of advanced glycation end products mediates ER-stress-induced caspase-3 activation of human dermal fibroblasts through NAD(P)H oxidase 4. PLoS One. 2010;5 (6):1–15. e11093.
- Xue M, Rabbani N, Thornalley PJ. Glyoxalase in ageing. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2011;22(3):293–301.
- 43. Geroldi D, Falcone C, Minoretti P, et al. High levels of soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products may be a marker of extreme longevity in humans. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006;54(7):1149–50.
- 44. Hipkiss AR. Accumulation of altered proteins and ageing: causes and effects. Exp Gerontol. 2006;41:464–73.
- 45. Verzijl N, DeGroot J, Thorpe SR, et al. Effect of collagen turnover on the accumulation of advanced glycation end products. J Biol Chem. 2000;275 (50):39027–31.
- 46. Jeanmaire C, Danoux L, Pauly G. Glycation during human dermal intrinsic and actinic ageing: an in vivo and in vitro model study. Br J Dermatol. 2001;145:10–8.
- Meerwaldt R, Graaff R, Oomen PH, et al. Simple non-invasive assessment of advanced glycationendproduct accumulation. Diabetologia. 2004;47 (7):1324–30.
- 48. Sell DR, Lane MA, Johnson WA, et al. Longevity and the genetic determination of collagen glycoxidation kinetics in mammalian senescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(1):485–90.

- 49. Corstjens H, Dicanio D, Muizzuddin N, et al. Glycation associated skin autofluorescence and skin elasticity are related to chronological age and body mass index of healthy subjects. Exp Gerontol. 2008;43:663–7.
- 50. Monnier VM, Mustata GT, Biemel KL, et al. Crosslinking of the extracellular matrix by the maillard reaction in aging and diabetes: an update on "a puzzle nearing resolution". Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1043:533–44.
- 51. Kawabata K, Yoshikawa H, Saruwatari K, et al. The presence of N(ε) (Carboxymethyl) lysine in the human epidermis. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1814(10):1246–52.
- 52. Pageon H, Poumès-Ballihaut C, Zucchi H, Bastien P, Tancrede E, Asselineau D. Aged human skin is more susceptible than young skin to accumulate advanced glycoxidation products induced by sun exposure. J Aging Sci. 2013;1(3):1–5.
- Tanaka S, Avigad G, Brodsky B, et al. Glycation induces expansion of the molecular packing of collagen. J Mol Biol. 1988;203(2):495–505.
- 54. Reihsner R, Melling M, Pfeiler W, et al. Alterations of biochemical and two-dimensional biomechanical properties of human skin in diabetes mellitus as compared to effects of in vitro non-enzymatic glycation. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2000;15:379–86.
- Avery NC, Bailey AJ. The effects of the Maillard reaction on the physical properties and cell interactions of collagen. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2006;54 (7):387–95.
- Wilson SL, Guilbert M, Sulé-Suso J, et al. A microscopic and macroscopic study of aging collagen on its molecular structure, mechanical properties, and cellular response. FASEB J. 2014;28(1):14–25.
- 57. Rittié L, Berton A, Monboisse JC, et al. Decreased contraction of glycated collagen lattices coincides with impaired matrix metalloproteinase production. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;264:488–92.
- Pageon H, Técher MP, Asselineau D. Reconstructed skin modified by glycation of the dermal equivalent as a model for skin aging and its potential use to evaluate anti-glycation molecules. Exp Gerontol. 2008;43:584–8.
- 59. Kueper T, Grune T, Prahl S, et al. Vimentin is the specific target in skin glycation. Structural prerequisites, functional consequences, and role in skin aging. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:23427–36.
- 60. Hashmi F, Malone-Lee J, Hounsell E. Plantar skin in type II diabetes: an investigation of protein glycation and biomechanical properties of plantar epidermis. Eur J Dermatol. 2006;16(1):23–32.
- Haitoglou CS, Tsilibary EC, Brownlee M, et al. Altered cellular interactions between endothelial cells and nonenzymatically glucosylated laminin/type IV collagen. J Biol Chem. 1992;267(18):12404–7.
- 62. Yoshinaga E, Kawada A, Ono K, et al. N(ε)-(carboxymethyl)lysine modification of elastin alters

its biological properties: implications for the accumulation of abnormal elastic fibers in actinic elastosis. J Invest Dermatol. 2012;132(2):315–23.

- 63. Ogura Y, Kuwahara T, Akiyama M, et al. Dermal carbonyl modification is related to the yellowish color change of photo-aged Japanese facial skin. J Dermatol Sci. 2011;64(1):45–52.
- 64. Yokota M, Tokudome Y. Permeation of hydrophilic molecules across glycated skin is differentially regulated by the stratum corneum and epidermis-dermis. Biol Pharm Bull. 2015;38(9):1383–8.
- 65. Alikhani Z, Alikhani M, Boyd CM, et al. Advanced glycation end products enhance expression of pro-apoptotic genes and stimulate fibroblast apoptosis through cytoplasmic and mitochondrial pathways. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(13):12087–95.
- 66. Alikhani M, Alikhani Z, Boyd C, et al. Advanced glycation end products stimulate osteoblast apoptosis via the MAP kinase and cytosolic apoptotic pathways. Bone. 2007;40(2):345–53.
- Peterszegi G, Molinari J, Ravelojaona V, et al. Effect of advanced glycation end-products on cell proliferation and cell death. Pathol Biol (Paris). 2006;54 (7):396–404.
- Sejersen H, Rattan SI. Dicarbonyl-induced accelerated aging in vitro in human skin fibroblasts. Biogerontology. 2009;10(2):203–11.
- Ravelojaona V, Péterszegi G, Molinari J, et al. Demonstration of the cytotoxic effect of Advanced Glycation Endproducts (AGE-s). J Soc Biol. 2007;201(2):185–8.
- Sell DR, Primc M, Schafer IA, et al. Cell-associated pentosidine as a marker of aging in human diploid cells in vitro and in vivo. Mech Ageing Dev. 1998;105(3):221–40.
- Ravelojaona V, Robert AM, Robert L. Expression of senescence-associated beta-galactosidase (SA-beta-Gal) by human skin fibroblasts, effect of advanced glycation end-products and fucose or rhamnose-rich polysaccharides. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2009;48(2):151–4.
- Berge U, Behrens J, Rattan SI. Sugar-induced premature aging and altered differentiation in human epidermal keratinocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1100:524–9.
- Zhu P, Yang C, Chen LH, et al. Impairment of human keratinocyte mobility and proliferation by advanced glycation end products-modified BSA. Arch Dermatol Res. 2011;303(5):339–50.
- 74. Masaki H, Okano Y, Sakurai H. Generation of active oxygen species from advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) during ultraviolet light A (UVA) irradiation and a possible mechanism for cell damaging. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999;1428:45–56.
- 75. Mizutari K, Ono T, Ikeda K, et al. Photo-enhanced modification of human skin elastin in actinic elastosis by N(epsilon)-(carboxymethyl)lysine, one of the glycoxidation products of the Maillard reaction. J Invest Dermatol. 1997;108(5):797–802.

- 76. Okano Y, Masaki H, Sakurai H. Dysfunction of dermal fibroblasts induced by advancedglycation end-products (AGEs) and the contribution of a nonspecific interaction with cell membrane and AGEs. J Dermatol Sci. 2002;29:171–80.
- 77. Owen Jr WF, Hou FF, Stuart RO, et al. Beta 2-microglobulin modified with advanced glycation end products modulates collagen synthesis by human fibroblasts. Kidney Int. 1998;53(5):1365–73.
- Molinari J, Ruszova E, Velebny V, et al. Effect of advanced glycation endproducts on gene expression profiles of human dermal fibroblasts. Biogerontology. 2008;9:177–82.
- Andreea SI, Marieta C, Anca D. AGEs and glucose levels modulate type I and III procollagen mRNA synthesis in dermal fibroblasts cells culture. Exp Diabetes Res. 2008;2008(473603):1–7.
- Pageon H, Zucchi H, Dai Z, et al. Biological effects induced by specific advanced glycation end products in the reconstructed skin model of aging. Biores Open Access. 2015;4(1):54–64.
- Pageon H, Bakala H, Monnier VM, et al. Collagen glycation triggers the formation of aged skin in vitro. Eur J Dermatol. 2007;17(1):12–20.
- Pageon H, Zucchi H, Rousset F, et al. Skin aging by glycation: lessons from the reconstructed skin model. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2014;52(1):169–74.
- Ranzer MJ, Dipietro LA. Impaired wound repair and delayed angiogenesis. In: Farage MA, Miller KW, Maibach HI, editors. Text book of aging skin. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer; 2010. p. 897–907.
- 84. Gharaee-Kermani M, Denholm EM, Phan SH. Costimulation of fibroblast collagen and transforming growth factor beta1 gene expression by monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 via specific receptors. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(30):17779–84.
- 85. Goto M. Inflammaging (inflammation + aging): a driving force for human aging based on an evolutionarily antagonistic pleiotropy theory? Biosci Trends. 2008;2(6):218–30.
- 86. Latil A, Libon C, Templier M, et al. Hexanic lipidosterolic extract of Serenoa repens inhibits the expression of two key inflammatory mediators, MCP1/CCL2 and VCAM-1, in vitro. BJU Int. 2012;110(6 Pt B):E301–7.
- Fortunel NO, Chadli L, Bourreau E, et al. Cellular adhesion on collagen: a simple method to select human basal keratinocytes which preserves their high growth capacity. Eur J Dermatol. 2011;21 Suppl 2:12–20.
- Asselineau D, Bernard BA, Bailly C, et al. Retinoic acid improves epidermal morphogenesis. Dev Biol. 1989;133(2):322–35.
- 89. Bernerd F, Asselineau D, Vioux C, et al. Clues to epidermal cancer proneness revealed by reconstruction of DNA repair-deficient xeroderma pigmentosum skin in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98 (14):7817–22.
- 90. Mori Y, Aki K, Kuge K, et al. UV B-irradiation enhances the racemization and isomerizaiton of

aspartyl residues and production of N- ε -carboxymethyl lysine (CML) in keratin of skin. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2011;879(29):3303–9.

- Márová I, Záhejský J, Sehnalová H. Non-enzymatic glycation of epidermal proteins of the stratum corneum in diabetic patients. Acta Diabetol. 1995;32(1):38–43.
- 92. Fujimoto E, Kobayashi T, Fujimoto N, et al. AGEmodified collagens I and III induce keratinocyte terminal differentiation through AGE receptor CD36: epidermal-dermal interaction in acquired perforating dermatosis. J Invest Dermatol. 2010;130(2):405–14.
- 93. Zhu P, Ren M, Yang C, et al. Involvement of RAGE, MAPK and NF-κB pathways in AGEs-induced MMP-9 activation in HaCaT keratinocytes. Exp Dermatol. 2012;21(2):123–9.
- 94. Lan CC, Wu CS, Huang SM, et al. High-glucose environment inhibits p38MAPK signaling and reduces human β-defensin-3 expression [corrected] in keratinocytes. Mol Med. 2011;17(7–8):771–9.
- 95. Lan CC, Wu CS, Huang SM, et al. High glucose environment reduces human beta-defensin 2 expressions in human keratinocytes: implications for poor diabetic wound healing. Br J Dermatol. 2012;166:1221–9.
- 96. Pennacchi PC, de Almeida ME, Gomes OL, et al. Glycated reconstructed human skin as a platform to study the pathogenesis of skin aging. Tissue Eng Part A. 2015;21(17–18):2417–25.
- Cadau S, Leoty-Okombi S, Pain S, et al. In vitro glycation of an endothelialized and innervated tissue-engineered skin to screen anti-AGE molecules. Biomaterials. 2015;51:216–25.
- 98. Lohwasser C, Neureiter D, Weigle B, et al. The receptor for advanced glycation end products is highly expressed in the skin and upregulated by advanced glycation end products and tumor necrosis factoralpha. J Invest Dermatol. 2006;126:291–9.
- 99. Varani J, Dame MK, Rittie L, et al. Decreased collagen production in chronologically aged skin: roles of age-dependent alteration in fibroblast function and defective mechanical stimulation. Am J Pathol. 2006;168(6):1861–8.
- 100. Oh JH, Kim YK, Jung JY, et al. Changes in glycosaminoglycans and related proteoglycans in intrinsically aged human skin in vivo. Exp Dermatol. 2011;20(5):454–6.
- 101. Ohashi K, Takahashi HK, Mori S, et al. Advanced glycation end products enhance monocyte activation during human mixed lymphocyte reaction. Clin Immunol. 2010;134(3):345–53.
- 102. Sassi-Gaha S, Loughlin DT, Kappler F, et al. Two dicarbonyl compounds, 3-deoxyglucosone and methylglyoxal, differentially modulate dermal fibroblasts. Matrix Biol. 2010;29(2):127–34.
- 103. Abe R, Shimizu T, Sugawara H, et al. Regulation of human melanoma growth and metastasis by AGE-AGE receptor interactions. J Invest Dermatol. 2004;122(2):461–7.

- 104. Hou FF, Miyata T, Boyce J, et al. beta(2)-Microglobulin modified with advanced glycation end products delays monocyte apoptosis. Kidney Int. 2001;59(3):990–1002.
- 105. Buttari B, Profumo E, Capozzi A, et al. Advanced glycation end products of human β_2 glycoprotein I modulate the maturation and function of DCs. Blood. 2011;117(23):6152–61.
- 106. Pageon H, Hubert S, Zucchi H, et al. Can glycation be involved in skin inflamm-aging? First elements of proof in reconstructed skin. 11th International symposium on the maillard reaction; 2012. p. 287.
- 107. Gunin AG, Kornilova NK, Vasilieva OV, et al. Agerelated changes in proliferation, the numbers of mast cells, eosinophils, and cd45-positive cells in human dermis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2011;66 (4):385–92.
- 108. Miyata T, Iida Y, Ueda Y, et al. Monocyte/macrophage response to beta 2-microglobulin modified with advanced glycation end products. Kidney Int. 1996;49(2):538–50.
- 109. Guo ZJ, Hou FF, Liang M, et al. Advanced glycation end products stimulate human endothelial cells to produce monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2003;83(12):1075–9.
- 110. Xu SH, Wang KF, Xu CS, et al. Effect of atorvastatin on advanced glycation end products induced monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression in cultured human endothelial cells. Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi. 2011;39(6):512–7.
- 111. Xu Y, Feng L, Wang S, et al. Calycosin protects HUVECs from advanced glycation end productsinduced macrophage infiltration. J Ethnopharmacol. 2011;137(1):359–70.
- 112. Pertyńska-Marczewska M, Kiriakidis S, Wait R, et al. Advanced glycation end products upregulate angiogenic and pro-inflammatory cytokine production in human monocyte/macrophages. Cytokine. 2004;28(1):35–47.
- 113. Rashid G, Luzon AA, Korzets Z, et al. The effect of advanced glycation end-products and aminoguanidine on TNFalpha production by rat peritoneal macrophages. Perit Dial Int. 2001;21(2):122–9.
- 114. Sasaki T, Horiuchi S, Yamazaki M, et al. Induction of GM-CSF production of macrophages by advanced glycation end products of the Maillard reaction. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 1999;63(11):2011–3.
- 115. Poitevin S, Garnotel R, Antonicelli F, et al. Type I collagen induces tissue factor expression and matrix metalloproteinase 9 production in human primary monocytes through a redox-sensitive pathway. J Thromb Haemost. 2008;6(9):1586–94.
- 116. Zhang F, Banker G, Liu X, et al. The novel function of advanced glycation end products in regulation of MMP-9 production. J Surg Res. 2011;171 (2):871–6.
- 117. Bao W, Min D, Twigg SM, et al. Monocyte CD147 is induced by advanced glycation end products and high glucose concentration: possible role in diabetic

complications. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2010;299 (5):C1212–19.

- 118. Ma K, Xu Y, Wang C, et al. A cross talk between class A scavenger receptor and receptor for advanced glycation end-products contributes to diabetic retinopathy. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2014;307 (12):E1153–65.
- 119. Kueper T, Grune T, Muhr GM, et al. Modification of vimentin: a general mechanism of nonenzymatic glycation in human skin. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008;1126:328–32.
- 120. Shin JU, Lee WJ, Oh SH, et al. Altered vimentin protein expression in human dermal microvascular endothelial cells after ultraviolet or intense pulsed light treatment. Lasers Surg Med. 2014;46(5):431–8.
- 121. Bulteau AL, Verbeke P, Petropoulos I, et al. Proteasome inhibition in glyoxal-treated fibroblasts and resistance of glycated glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase to 20S proteasome degradation in vitro. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:45662–8.
- 122. Gonzalez-Dosal R, Sørensen MD, Clark BF, et al. Phage-displayed antibodies for the detection of glycated proteasome in aging cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2006;1067:474–8.
- 123. Petropoulos I, Conconi M, Wang X, et al. Increase of oxidatively modified protein is associated with a decrease of proteasome activity and content in aging epidermal cells. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2000;55(5):B220–7.
- 124. Yan H, Harding JJ. Glycation-induced inactivation and loss of antigenicity of catalase and superoxide dismutase. Biochem J. 1997;328:599–605.
- 125. Unterluggauer H, Micutkova L, Lindner H, et al. Identification of Hsc70 as target for AGE modification in senescent human fibroblasts. Biogerontology. 2009;10(3):299–309.
- 126. Roberts MJ, Wondrak GT, Laurean DC, et al. DNA damage by carbonyl stress in human skin cells. Mutat Res. 2003;522:45–56.
- 127. Bernerd F, Asselineau D. UVA exposure of human skin reconstructed in vitro induces apoptosis of dermal fibroblasts: subsequent connective tissue repair and implications in photoaging. Cell Death Differ. 1998;5(9):792–802.
- 128. Ou-Yang H, Stamatas G, Kollias N. Dermal contributions to UVA-induced oxidative stress in skin. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed. 2009;25:65–70.
- 129. Okano Y, Masaki H, Sakurai H. Pentosidine in advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) during UVA irradiation generates active oxygen species and impairs human dermal fibroblasts. J Dermatol Sci. 2001;27 Suppl 1:S11–8.
- 130. Corstjens H, Declercq L, Hellemans L, et al. Prevention of oxidative damage that contributes to the loss of bioenergetic capacity in ageing skin. Exp Gerontol. 2007;42:924–9.
- Wondrak GT, Jacobson MK, Jacobson EL. Endogenous UVA-photosensitizers: mediators

of skin photodamage and novel targets for skin photoprotection. Photochem Photobiol Sci. 2006;5 (2):215–37.

- 132. Mamalis A, Fiadorchanka N, Adams L, et al. An immunohistochemical panel to assess ultraviolet radiation-associated oxidative skin injury. J Drugs Dermatol. 2014;13(5):574–8.
- 133. Pageon H, Zucchi H, Asselineau D. Glycation combined with UVA exposure leads to a new model of skin aging in-vitro. 11th International symposium on the maillard reaction; 2012. p. 99.
- 134. Toyokuni S, Hirao A, Wada T, et al. Age- and sun exposure-dependent differences in 8-hydroxy-2'deoxyguanosine and N-(carboxymethyl)lysine in human epidermis. J Clin Biochem Nutr. 2011;49 (2):121–4.
- 135. Buetler TM, Leclerc E, Baumeyer A, et al. N(epsilon) carboxymethyllysine-modified proteins are unable to bind to RAGE and activate an inflammatory response. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2008;52:370–8.
- 136. Twigg SM, Chen MM, Joly AH, et al. Advanced glycosylation end products up-regulate connective tissue growth factor (insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-related protein 2) in human fibroblasts: a potential mechanism for expansion of extracellular matrix in diabetes mellitus. Endocrinology. 2001;142:1760–9.
- 137. Sunahori K, Yamamura M, Yamana J, et al. Increased expression of receptor for advanced glycation end products by synovial tissue macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(1):97–104.
- 138. Leibold JS, Riehl A, Hettinger J, et al. Keratinocytespecific deletion of the receptor RAGE modulates the kinetics of skin inflammation in vivo. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(10):2400–6.
- 139. Mezentsev AV, Bruskin SA, Soboleva AG, et al. Pharmacological control of receptor of advanced glycation end-products and its biological effects in psoriasis. Int J Biomed Sci. 2013;9(3):112–22.
- 140. Iotzova-Weiss G, Dziunycz PJ, Freiberger SN, et al. S100A8/A9 stimulates keratinocyte proliferation in the development of squamous cell carcinoma of the skin via the receptor for advanced glycationend products. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):18.
- 141. Yahagi S. Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) in the dermis trigger melanogenesis in epidermal melanocytes. Poster from 10th ASCS Korean; 2011.
- 142. Ishibashi Y, Matsui T, Takeuchi M, et al. Vardenafil, an inhibitor of phosphodiesterase-5, blocks advanced glycation end product (AGE)-induced up-regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 mRNA levels in endothelial cells by suppressing AGE receptor (RAGE) expression via elevation of cGMP. Clin Exp Med. 2011;11(2):131–5.
- 143. Rout S, Banerjee R. Free radical scavenging, antiglycation and tyrosinase inhibition properties of a polysaccharide fraction isolated from the rind from Punica granatum. Bioresour Technol. 2007;98(16):3159–63.
- 144. Ohshima H, Oyobikawa M, Tada A, Maeda T, Takiwaki H, Itoh M, Kanto H. Melanin and facial

skin fluorescence as markers of yellowish discoloration with aging. Skin Res Technol. 2009;15(4):496–502.

- 145. Leblanc-Noblesse E, Juan M, Loubens V, et al. Dermal compartment and solar lentigo: focus on glycation. IFSCC. 2014.
- 146. Leclerc E, Heizmann CW, Vetter SW. RAGE and S100 protein transcription levels are highly variable in human melanoma tumors and cells. Gen Physiol Biophys. 2009; 28 Spec No Focus:F65–75.
- 147. Zhu L, Ito T, Nakahara T, Nagae K, et al. Upregulation of S100P, receptor for advanced glycation end products and ezrin in malignant melanoma. J Dermatol. 2013;40(12):973–9.
- Monnier VM. Intervention against the Maillard reaction in vivo. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2003;419(1):1–15.
- Ahmed N. Advanced glycation endproducts-role in pathology of diabetic complications. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005;67(1):3–21.
- Harding JJ, Ganea E. Protection against glycation and similar post-translational modifications of proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2006;1764(9):1436–46.
- 151. Urios P, Grigorova-Borsos AM, Sternberg M. Flavonoids inhibit the formation of the crosslinking AGE pentosidine in collagen incubated with glucose, according to their structure. Eur J Nutr. 2007;46(3):139–46.
- 152. Gasser P, Arnold F, Peno-Mazzarino L, et al. Glycation induction and antiglycation activity of skin care ingredients on living human skin explants. Int J Cosmet Sci. 2011;33(4):366–70.
- 153. Saraswat M, Reddy PY, Muthenna P, et al. Prevention of non-enzymic glycation of proteins by dietary agents: prospects for alleviating diabetic complications. Br J Nutr. 2009;101(11):1714–21.
- 154. Lo CY, Li S, Tan D, et al. Trapping reactions of reactive carbonyl species with tea polyphenols in simulated physiological conditions. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2006;50(12):1118–28.
- 155. Asif M, Egan J, Vasan S, et al. An advanced glycation end product cross-link breaker can reverse age-related increases in myocardial stiffness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(6):2809–13.
- Vasan S, Foiles P, Founds H. Therapeutic potential of breakers of advanced glycation end product-protein crosslinks. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2003;419 (1):89–96.
- 157. Yang S, Litchfield JE, Baynes JW. AGE-breakers cleave model compounds, but do not break Maillard crosslinks in skin and tail collagen from diabetic rats. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2003;412(1):42–6.
- 158. Candido R, Forbes JM, Thomas MC, et al. A breaker of advanced glycation end products attenuates diabetes-induced myocardial structural changes. Circ Res. 2003;92(7):785–92.
- 159. Grossin N, Boulanger E, Wautier MP, et al. The different isoforms of the receptor for advanced glycation end products are modulated by pharmacological agents. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2010;45(2):143–153.

- 160. Yamagishi S, Takeuchi M. Nifedipine inhibits gene expression of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in endothelial cells by suppressing reactive oxygen species generation. Drugs Exp Clin Res. 2004;30(4):169–175.
- 161. Horiuchi T, Kurokawa T, Saito N. Purification and properties of fructosyl-amino acid oxidase from *Corynebacterium* sp. 2-4-1. Agric Biol Chem. 1989;53:103–10.
- 162. Wu X, Monnier VM. Enzymatic deglycation of proteins. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2003;419:16–24.
- 163. Szwergold BS, Kappler F, Brown TR. Identification of fructose 3-phosphate in the lens of diabetic rats. Science. 1990;247(4941):451–4.
- Delpierre G, Rider MH, Collard F, et al. Identification, cloning, and heterologous expression of a mammalian fructosamine-3-kinase. Diabetes. 2000;49 (10):1627–34.
- 165. Szwergold B, Manevich Y, Payne L, et al. Fructosamine-3-kinase-related-protein phosphorylates glucitolamines on the C-4 hydroxyl: novel substrate specificity of an enigmatic enzyme. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;361(4):870–5.
- 166. Thornalley PJ. Dietary AGEs and ALEs and risk to human health by their interaction with the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE)—an introduction. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2007;51(9):1107–10.
- 167. Rabbani N, Thornalley PJ. Glyoxalase in diabetes, obesity and related disorders. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2011;22(3):309–17.
- 168. Richarme G, Mihoub M, Dairou J, et al. Parkinsonism-associated protein DJ1/Park7 is a major protein deglycase that repairs methylglyoxaland glyoxal-glycated cysteine, arginine, and lysine residues. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(3):1885–97.
- 169. Cerami C, Founds H, Nicholl I, et al. Tobacco smoke is a source of toxic reactive glycation products. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(25):13915–20.
- 170. Uribarri J, Woodruff S, Goodman S, et al. Advanced glycation end products in foods and a practical guide to their reduction in the diet. J Am Diet Assoc. 2010;110(6):911–6.
- 171. Sell DR, Lane MA, Obrenovich ME, et al. The effect of caloric restriction on glycation and glycoxidation in skin collagen of nonhuman primates. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2003;58(6):508–16.
- 172. Bodkin NL, Alexander TM, Ortmeyer HK, et al. Mortality and morbidity in laboratory-maintained Rhesus monkeys and effects of long-term dietary restriction. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2003;58(3):212–9.
- 173. Zainal TA, Oberley TD, Allison DB, et al. Caloric restriction of rhesus monkeys lowers oxidative damage in skeletal muscle. FASEB J. 2000;14(12):1825–36.
- 174. Holloszy JO, Fontana L. Caloric restriction in humans. Exp Gerontol. 2007;42(8):709–12.
- 175. Zouboulis CC, Makrantonaki E. Clinical aspects and molecular diagnostics of skin aging. Clin Dermatol. 2011;29(1):3–14.